IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 13 1998

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPPRIME COURT **Deputy Clerk**

vs.

CASE NO. 87,059

STATE OF FLORIDA,

MERYL MCDONALD,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JURY VERDICT AND JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE OF SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT MERYL MCDONALD

RICHARD N. WATTS, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 306428 Attorney for Appellant 4244 Central Ave. St. Petersburg, FL 33711

STATEMENT OF ADOPTION

This appeal and the various issues raised by the Appellant McDonald and Co-Appellant Robert Gordon (Appeal Case No. 87,059) arise from one prosecution, one indictment and one jury trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a death penalty appeal of a black man convicted by an all white jury with circumstantial evidence that did not even place him at the actual scene of the crime.

On or about January 25, 1994, Dr. Louis Davidson was killed at Thunder Bay Apartments in Pinellas County, Florida (T: 325). Subsequently, 5 people were charged with First Degree Murder: Denise Davidson (victim's wife), Leo Cisneros, Appellant McDonald, Co-Defendant Gordon, and Susan Shore (R: 32).

Appellant McDonald and Co- Defendant Gordon were tried first. Ms.

Davidson was given a separate trial before a different judge (R: 2489). Cisneros was and still remains a fugitive (T: 913, 1846). Susan Shore cooperated with the State, and testified at Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordon's trial (T: 1510). Later her charges were reduced to accessory after the fact (T: 1625), she received probation, and was deported to England (T: 2825).

Th trial of Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordon occurred from June 6 - June 15, 1995. Both were found guilty of Murder in the First Degree on June 15, 1995 (T: 2854).

On June 16, 1995, the same jury reconvened for the penalty phase portion of the trial (T: 2854). They returned an advisory recommendation that Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordon be sentenced to death by a 9 - 3 vote as to each (T: 2761).

The trial court ordered each side to prepare a Sentencing Memorandum, and held the first <u>Spencer</u> hearing on August 4, 1995 (T: 2758). Subsequently, Co-Defendant Denise Davidson had her trial before another judge (R: 2489). She was

-1-

also convicted of First Degree Murder (R: 2489). The judge followed the recommendation of her jury, and sentenced Co-Defendant Davidson to life in prison without the possibility of parole for twenty-five years (R: 2489, 2802).

Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordon's second <u>Spencer</u> hearing was held on October 9, 1995 (T: 2855). Testimony was taken and arguments made regarding the significance Co-Defendant Davidson's life sentence (T: 2804). On November 16, 1995, the trial court entered a 12 page Order sentencing Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordon to death (T: 2853).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on behalf of Appellant McDonald (R: 2553), and the instant appeal ensued.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The State presented a circumstantial case trying to prove that the victim was actually murdered by Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordon (T: 274-275) at the request of the victim's estranged wife (Co-Defendant Denise Davidson) and her fiancée (T: 405) fugitive Co-Defendant Leo Cisneros. However, the State did not have an eyewitness to the actual murder.

The State placed Appellant McDonald and others near the murder scene (the victim's apartment) before the time the murder took place, so that the jury could infer that they were guilty of murder. The State relied on two theories, namely that Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordon committed either (1) premeditated murder, or (2) felony murder during the course of a robbery or burglary (T: 215, 220).

The facts adduced at trial were as follows: Dr. Davidson, the victim, left work at 9 a.m. on January 25, 1994, and drove to his apartment in Thunder Bay Apartments, in Pinellas County, FL (T: 416). Appellant McDonald, Co-Defendant Gordon, and Co-Defendant Susan Shore had previously arrived together near the apartment building in the same car (T: 1559). Upon arrival, Appellant McDonald went jogging in the general direction of the apartments (T: 1563). In the meantime Co-Defendant's Gordon and Shore walked around the vicinity of the lake that was adjacent to the apartment complex (T: 1564). They were playing catch with a cricket ball (T: 1564). While tossing the ball they noticed apartment residents going about their business (T: 1565). Also about this same time, Co-defendant Shore testified that she saw what appeared to be a shadow of a black man, over by the stairwell of one of the apartment buildings (T: 1566).

Shortly thereafter, the victim pulled up in the parking lot and stepped out of his car. The victim was met by Co-Defendant Gordon, who spoke with him (T: 1568-1569). The two men went back to the victim's car, and then proceeded in the general direction of the apartment building, disappearing out of sight (T: 1628).

Co-Defendant Shore stayed behind in the car in which the group had arrived (T: 1569). While waiting for Gordon and McDonald to return, Shore met an older couple their daughter, and her infant child (T:1569). Shore spoke with these passersby, and observed their tiny infant (T: 1570). These people left about ten minutes later (T: 1570).

About 5 minutes later, Co-Defendant Gordon came back to the car where Shore was (T: 1569). A few moments after that, Appellant McDonald came back to the car, and said "I got the documents", and patted his stomach area which caused a crinkling sound (T: 1571). The three then drove away to a motel (T: 1576).

When the body of the victim was discovered that day at about 3 p.m., the police began their investigation. Although the victim's apartment was in disarray

and looked like it had been ransacked, with documents and other personal effects strewn all over the rooms, the apartment showed no signs of forced entry (T: 449, 1028-1035). The victim was found in a bathtub full of bloody water (T: 449). He had been tied up with a vacuum cleaner cord and a belt that had been taken from a cashmere coat (T: 448-57, 463-66). According to the medical examiner, the cause of Dr. Davidsons death was homicidal violence, including drowning, binding, and blunt trauma to the head and torso (T: 570).

The police then began to collect evidence from the scene, among which was the cashmere coat and matching belt that belonged to the victim's fiancée. Carpet samples were also collected (T: 465). There was \$400.00 in the victims' wallet, and \$19,300.00 in cash stashed away in his closet (T: 470-471).

The police began to follow Co-Defendant Denise Davidson over the next several days, and watched her go to several Western Union offices (T: 660). She sent several of these wire transfers to Co-Defendant Gordon, and he became a suspect (T: 661).

The police then got telephone records from Dooley Groves, in Tampa, where Denise Davidson was working (T: 662-669). The phone records led police to a beeper which was called by Co-Defendant Cisneros on January 25, 1994, (the day of the murder) 50 time during a 2 1/2 hour period (T: 1853, 1946). This beeper was registered to Patricia Vega, a girlfriend/business associate of Appellant McDonald, who received the beeper from her as a present (T: 662, 1430).

Co-Defendant Davidson had purchased a cellular phone and activated it on December 17, 1993 (T: 1805). This phone was allegedly used by Appellant McDonald (T: 1572). The State, by use of cellular phone records, traced the movement of the phone at certain times before and after the murder (T: 1900).

The police then used these cellular phone records to check out some of the

-4-

different places that were called, including hotels. For example, a Days Inn Hotel had been called on or about January 18, 1994 (T: 1052). The police went there and were told that 2 black men (Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordon) with a blond female (Shore), had been at the hotel on January 25, 1994, (T: 1073, 1128), and that they had left behind some clothes (T: 1112-1114, 1132). Specifically, after they checked out on January 26, 1994, a sweatshirt and a pair tennis shoes were found in the room (T: 1091, 1115-20, 1133-36). Both the sweatshirt and tennis shoes were alleged to have been worn by Appellant McDonald (T: 1166, 1227). None of the three used the shower in the hotel room during their stay (T: 1132, 1137, 1633).

These items were turned over to the FBI for analysis (T: 1256). Flecks of human blood were found on the tennis shoes, but the sample was too small to make a DNA profile (T: 1221-23). The bottom of the tennis shoes matched shoe prints found in the victim's apartment (T: 492-4, 1183-1202). Also, hair similar to the Appellant's was found on the sweatshirt, as were (1) fibers similar to those in the coat belt that was used to tie the victim's hands and (2) fibers similar to those found in the victim's carpet (T: 468-69, 840-43, 1256-77).

One blood stain matching the victims' DNA was found on the sweatshirt (T: 1166, 1227). In addition, a second sample of the victims' DNA was found on a second stain on the sweatshirt. However, this second sample of the victims' DNA, also contained within it, some other <u>unknown</u> DNA sample. (T: 1229, 1231). No blood samples from Appellant McDonald or any of the other Co-defendants was ever taken for comparison (T: 1936).

Through receipts, the State showed that on January 24th (the day before the homicide) Co-Defendant Davidson had purchased three items with a credit card, , namely a pair of sneakers, a gray sweatshirt, and a purple sweatshirt (T: 1925). However, none of the items were directly linked to Appellant McDonald or Co-

-5-

Defendant Gordon.

The state also showed that Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordon had made 3 trips to the Tampa area from Miami prior to Dr. Davidson's murder (T: 1345). They would typically be driven by a third person, and would stay in hotels and visit Co-Defendants Davidson and Leo Cisneros at Ms. Davidson's place of work in Tampa, Dooley Groves (T: 1356, 1379).

One of the third persons hired to accompany the Co-Defendant's on one of these trips to the Tampa area testified that following a meeting with Co-Defendant Davidson and Cisneros at Dooley Groves, the three men drove over to the hospital where Dr. Davidson worked (T: 1372). While he waited in the car, McDonald and Gordon, went into the hospital (T: 1373-4). They claimed they had to go to the emergency room and didn't return for approximately 30 minutes (T: 1373). When they returned the three men went back to Miami (T: 1373-1374).

The following week The Co-Defendant's returned to the Tampa area with this same witness (T: 1375). They went to Dooley Groves (T: 1379).. However, on this occasion after leaving Dooley Groves the three men went to the apartment complex where Dr. Davidson lived (T: 1382). At the complex they met with leasing agent and inquired about renting a couple units (T: 1382). McDonald and Gordon were posing as father and son who along with an imaginary wife needed the largest 2 bedroom unit possible (this would be the same type of unit a that leased by Dr. Davidson) (T: 1383, 1384). The witness who was paid to accompany the Codefendant's to the Tampa area, was instructed to pretend to be a cousin needing a single bedroom unit (T: 1384). The three men were escorted by the leasing agent and shown the floor plans of both types of units (T: 1384). They were also given a brochure containing diagrams of the floor plans. After this meeting, the men drove around the area of the complex (T: 1385). Later on this same trip the three men

-6-

drove back over to the apartment complex from Tampa (T: 1395). The witness testified that Co-Defendant Gordon and Appellant McDonald appeared to have been trying to determine if there was another, second exit out of the apartment complex (T: 1395-1396).

The State's main witness against Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordon who detailed the events of the day of the murder was Co-Defendant Susan Shore. She drove with Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordon from Miami to Tampa (T: 1526), and was at the victim's apartment complex on the morning of the murder (T: 1559). She witnessed the interaction between Co-Defendant Gordon and the victim when he pulled up in his car near his apartment. The two spoke briefly and then they both walked away in the direction of the apartment building. (T: 1566). Shore never saw anyone go into the victim's apartment (T: 1653). No other witnesses testified to observing the alleged exchange between Gordon and the victim.

Shore testified that neither Appellant McDonald nor Co-Defendant Gordon took anything with them (e.g. murder weapons or gloves (T: 1629)) from the car on the morning when they were at the victim's apartment complex, or brought anything back to the car before they left (T: 1643). The murder weapon was never found or identified (T: 2114). Further, Shore testified that the men returned to the car within 10-20 minutes.

The State's scientific evidence was not consistent with Appellant McDonald ever being inside the victim's apartment [e.g. no fingerprints nor trace evidence linking McDonald to the crime were found inside apartment; after the alleged murder, he was not wet, had no cuts or bruises or apparent blood stains on him, no parts of his clothes were torn, and nothing was unusual about his shoes (T: 843-4, 1629)].. Nor was there any indication he had been involved in the physical acts

-7-

necessary to commit this murder.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse the trial court's decision and either, enter an Order of Acquittal, or grant a new trial, or vacate the death sentence and remand with instructions to impose a life sentence, or grant a new penalty phase hearing.

In support of this assertion, Appellant McDonald principally submits that the law and record illustrate that the trial court committed reversible error as follows:

I. APPELLANT MCDONALD ASSERTS THAT HE SHOULD BE GIVEN A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE HE WAS CONVICTED BY A JURY SELECTED FROM AN ALL-WHITE JURY VENIRE OF 50 PEOPLE.

Appellant McDonald and his Co-Defendant are both black. When the defense attorneys objected the trial judge said that it could not do anything, because the venire was randomly selected by computer. The trial court later commented that, "I wish we did have blacks on the panel, but that's the best we can do".

Appellant McDonald asserts that the trial court erred by making no effort to get some blacks on the venire. This violates the "fair cross-section" rule, where a defendant is entitled to a jury of his peers drawn from a fair cross-section of the community. In Pinellas County in 1995, about 7.9% of the population was black. With very little effort, the trial court could have ensured that the jury pool was fairly representative of the community.

Appellant McDonald asserts that the "affirmative duty rule" forces courts to utilize selection procedures that, regardless of their intention, produces nondiscriminatory results. Here, a discriminatory result occurred.

Because Appellant McDonald's life was at stake here, the slight additional effort required by the trial court to give blacks access to the venire was not too large a

rice to pay. Because the trial court did not take these protective measures, Appellant McDonald should be given a new trial.

II. APPELLANT MCDONALD ASSERTS THAT THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SHOW THAT HE WAS INVOLVED IN THE MURDER.

without an eyewitness or other direct evidence, the State's case as to the homicide is circumstancial. No one ever saw Appellant McDonald (1) enter the victim's apartment <u>building</u>, or (2) specific <u>apartment unit</u> where the murder occurred, or (3) commit the murder. No one testified that Appellant McDonald was involved in, spoke about, or even knew of an actual murder.

The evidence proffered by the state falls short of the necessary standard of being inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence.

Even if the Appellant was involved in a robbery, this act should not rise to the level of premeditated felony murder. While the State may have offered sufficient evidence which challenges the Appellant's reasonable contention that he may have been involved in a robbery, the evidence fails to rebut the hypothesis that he knew nothing about a killing which he contends must have occurred at some point after the robbery and was committed by an assailant unknownto him.

Various scientific and circumstantial evidence did not show that Appellant McDonald was ever inside the apartment building or apartment unit where the murder occurred. The State's key witness Co-Defendant Shore, simply testified that McDonald had gone on a morning jog upon their arrival to the apartment complex. In any event, the commode in the apartment unit had been broken, which caused water to flood the bathroom area and spill out into most of the rest of the apartment. Moreover, blood was spattered on the bathroom walls and the victim was lying face down in a bathtub full of bloody water when he was discovered. This evidence indicates that a fierce struggle must have taken place between the victim and his attacker(s).

However, Co-Defendant Shore testified that when Appellant McDonald returned after leaving Co-Defendant's Shore and Gordon, he had no water stains on his clothes or shoes, he had no blood stains on him, there were no cuts, bruises, or lacerations on him, no parts of his clothing were torn, and there was nothing unusual about his shoes that would draw attention to him. Further, no fingerprints of either Appellant McDonald or Co-Defendant Gordon were ever found inside the victim's apartment.

While the state alleges to have found a pair of blood stained tennis shoes and a sweatshirt left behind by the Co-Defendants, with the sweatshirt containing, (1) fibers similar to those in the victims' carpet, (2) fibers similar to those in a cashmere coat discovered in the victim's apartment, (3) head hairs similar to the Appellant's, and (4) traces of the victim's DNA, this evidence fails to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant McDonald was in the victim's apartment and committed the murder.

This evidence was not found on the Appellant at the time of arrest, but was discovered to have been left behind at the Days Inn hotel where Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant's Gordon and Shore allegedly stayed on January 25, 1994, the day of the murder. It was not collected by the police from the hotel until February 22, 1994, and up until that point had been stored in an unsecured fashion in the hotels' lost and found box. Because of this, the sweatshirt, the hair and carpet fibers found on the sweatshirt, the victim's DNA found allegedly found on the sweatshirt (along with some unknown other DNA), as well as the sneakers, fail to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant McDonald is responsible for the



killing.

In fact, the State's circumstantial case only showed Appellant McDonald and others coming from Miami to the Tampa area on 3 occasions, staying in the Tampa area monitoring the victim, visiting with Leo Cisneros and Co-Defendant Davidson, and then returning to Miami. All of this evidence is entirely consistent with the fact that they were, at most, only helping Cisneros and Co-Defendant Davidson to plan a burglary or robbery, which unbeknownst to them was a smaller part of the much larger murder scheme, to be executed by Cisneros but resulting in their arrests.

For example, this Honorable Court need only look to the open and obvious nature of Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordons conduct during the two months prior to the victims murder. On each occasion that they visited the Tampa area they felt compelled to hire third parties to escort them. They would then parade about Pinellas county in an open and notorious fashion monitoring Dr. Davidson. They would visit the Doctor's place of employment and go so far as to meet with the leasing agent of the apartment complex, touring the layout of the units therein. While doing this they would dress up and play roles, pretending to be in positions that they weren't. They would make those persons escorting them assume roles that they did not hold.

III. APPELLANT MCDONALD ASSERTS THAT HE SHOULD BE GIVEN A NEW PENALTY PHASE HEARING

Defense counsel for both Appellant McDonald and his Co-Defendant requested a special verdict form be given to the jury, in which they would indicate their basis for a conviction for first degree murder (premeditated murder or felony murder during course of a robbery or burglary). This request was denied. Defense counsel also requested a separate jury for the penalty phase as well as separate juries for each Co-Defendant. These requests were also denied. The result of this was that the Co-Defendant's went into the penalty phase unaware of which theory their conviction was based on (premeditated murder or felony murder in the course of a burglary/robbery), or which roles had been assigned to them (e.g. principal and/or accomplice).

The Appellant contends that a separate jury in the penalty phase can more objectively weigh aggravating and mitigating factors. Furthermore, Appellant McDonald contends that a separate jury would have shifted the focus of the penalty phase towards his own culpability. Had this been the case, both Appellant McDonald and Co-Defendant Gordon would not have been in the awkward position of having to point a finger at the other while vigorously defending themselves.

IV. APPELLANT MCDONALD ASSERTS THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING HIM TO DEATH BASED ON THE DOCTRINE OF PROPORTIONALITY.

Co-Defendant Denise Davidson (the victim's wife) received a severance, was tried after the instant trial, was convicted of first degree murder, and sentenced to life. Because this happened after the instant trial, the penalty phase jury for Appellant McDonald was not aware of his co-defendant's life sentence.

It is critical that Appellant McDonald's penalty phase jury (and not just his sentencing judge) know that his co-defendant received a life sentence. The appellant got an advisory recommendation for death from the jury with a 9 - 3 vote. The fact that a co-defendant received a life sentence is a mitigating circumstance that could very well sway the other 3 jurors necessary to make a "life" recommendation.

IV. APPELLANT MCDONALD ASSERTS THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT APPELLANT ACTED IN A "COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED" MANNER.

All of the Appellant's actions were just as consistent with a burglary or a robbery, as with murder. The fact that the State's star witness said that Appellant McDonald had left the car at the victim's apartment complex on the morning of the murder with nothing in his hands, along with the fact that the victim was bound, gagged, and struck over the head, with items that were found in his apartment (e.g. electrical cord, towels, and a belt from a cashmere coat) is contrary to any notions of premeditation. Certainly this did not encompass a heightened degree of premeditation. Nor did the evidence support a calculated plan to kill.

Finally, the Appellant argues that since there is not direct evidence which supports a finding that he directly participated in the actual killing he should not be held vicariously responsible for the manner which it was carried out.

V. APPELLANT MCDONALD ASSERTS THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT ACTED IN A HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, AND CRUEL MANNER, AND THAT THE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN TO THE JURY REGARDING THIS FACTOR WERE UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE

The Appellant argues that there is no evidence to support a finding that this murder was done with such extreme and outrageous depravity as exemplified either by the desire to inflict a high degree of pain or utter indifference to, or enjoyment of, the suffering of another so as to be heinous, atrocious, and cruel (H.A.C.)

At the trial, the medical examiner entered unrefutted testimony that the victim may have been rendered unconscious immediately after the first blow that was struck. This Court has established that crimes against dead or unconscious persons do not fall within the definition of H.A.C. because unconscious persons are incapable of comprehending fear or pain.

The Appellant asserts that the instructions given to the jury regarding the H.A.C. aggravator were unconstitutionally vague because they did not adequately define the terms of H.A.C. in a manner which enabled the jury to narrow those crimes that are eligible for the death penalty.

VI. APPELLANT MCDONALD ASSERTS THAT HE SHOULD BE GIVEN A NEW PENALTY PHASE HEARING BASED ON CERTAIN INAPPROPRIATE STATEMENTS MADE BY THE PROSECUTION DURING THE CLOSING ARGUMENTS OF HIS PENALTY PHASE.

Comments designed to appeal to any xenophobic emotions and fears of the individual jurors, comments which may reasonably be construed as appeals to racial tendencies, and variations upon the Golden Rule argument, utterly destroyed the Appellants right to the essential fairness of a criminal trial.

III. APPELLANT MCDONALD ASERTS THE TRIAL COURTS' FAILURE TO CONDUCT A NECESSARY INQUIRY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE EXPERTS DNA TEST RESULTS AND THE BASIS OF HIS STATISTICAL CONCLUSIONS COULD BE ADMITTED IS CLEARLY ERROR AND A NEW TRIAL IS REQUIRED.

This court has determined that DNA testing involves two distinct steps both of which must satisfy the requirements of *Frye*. This is a determination that the trial Judge alone must make. In the instant case the record does not indicate that a determination was made. Thus, a new trial is required.

ARGUMENT

L JURY COMPOSITION

Appellant McDonald reaffirms the Summary of Argument as stated previously herein.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT MCDONALD' S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AT THE CLOSE OF ALL OF THE EVIDENCE

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