MERYL MCDONALD,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 87,059

FILED SIDJ. WHITE SFR 24 1997 (

CLERK, SUPRELE COURT

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0445071 Westwood Center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant claims that this Court should give him a new penalty phase because his co-defendant, Denise Davidson, received a life sentence after his penalty phase. It is the state's position that the trial court properly imposed the sentence of death after considering Davidson's life sentence and that appellant is not entitled to relief on this claim.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR A NEW PENALTY PHASE BASED ON CO-DEFENDANT'S RECEIPT OF LIFE SENTENCE.

Appellant claims that this Court should give him a new penalty phase because after McDonald and Gordon's penalty phase, Denise Davidson went to trial and received a life sentence. He contends that his jury recommendation of 9-3 in favor of death may have been different if the jury had been aware of Davidson's life sentence.

This claim was presented to the trial judge, the Honorable Susan Schaeffer, following the penalty phase but before sentencing. Judge Schaeffer requested and received a supplemental memorandum from the state and the defendants regarding the co-defendant's and the effect, if any, that Davidson's sentence should have on defendant Gordon and McDonald's sentence. (R 1657-58) A hearing was held on October 19, 1995, in which the court heard arguments and testimony regarding Davidson's penalty phase and sentence. (R 1658) On November 16, 1995, Judge Schaeffer entered her sentencing order, imposing a sentence of death on McDonald and Gordon. (R 1674) The order thoroughly addressed the issue of Davidson's

sentence and distinguished the basis for McDonald's sentence of

death from Davidson's life sentence as follows:

3) The sentence of a co-defendant to a sentence less than death. (Note: this mitigating factor was suggested in defendant's supplemental sentencing memorandum).

Τf two co-defendants are equally . culpable, and both have similar aggravating and mitigating circumstances, it would be a violation of the fourteenth amendment for one to live and one to die. Scott vs. Dugger, 604 So 2d 465 (Fla.1992). In this case, five persons were indicted for murder in the first Defendants Gordon and McDonald, degree. Denise Davidson, Leo Cisneros and Susan Shore. Leo Cisneros has not yet been captured. Susan Shore was a state's witness in both McDonald Gordon's trial and in co-defendant and Davidson's trial. The jury in Gordon and McDonald's trial knew Shore was going to be allowed to plead quilty to accessory after the fact and receive probation. Frankly, this court believes this is the most the state She was clearly a could prove against her. minor player, if she was a player at all. Denise Davidson was not a minor player nor is Leo Cisneros. However, there is one major distinction between Gordon and McDonald, and Davidson and Cisneros. Davidson and Cisneros did not kill Dr. Davidson. Gordon and McDonald did. Nor is there any evidence in the record that Davidson and Cisneros knew the heinous, victim would be killed in а atrocious, or cruel manner. Since this factor applied aggravating cannot be vicariously, it was not given to the jury to consider in Denise Davidson's trial. There is no reason to believe it will be given to the jury in Leo Cisneros' trial, if he is ever captured. It is unknown what other aggravating or mitigating factors will exist

trial, in the Cisneros but a powerful statutory mitigating factor - no significant history or prior criminal activity - was given to the jury in Mrs. Davidson's trial and another one was given - that the defendant acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person presumably Leo Cisneros. Mrs. Davidson's age was also argued. Several witnesses testified in her trial to non-statutory mitigation. Neither Mr. McDonald or Mr. Gordon asked for the powerful statutory mitigator of no prior criminal substantial history of activity. Additionally, the aggravating factor of a murder committed for pecuniary gain was not given to the jury at Mrs. Davidson's trial.

Accordingly, Mrs. Davidson's jury had only two aggravating circumstances to consider and three statutory and many non-statutory mitigating circumstances to consider. It is not surprising that her jury, following the court's instructions, found the aggravating circumstances did not outweigh the mitigating circumstances. The judge was required by law to follow the Davidson's jury recommendation of life.

The sentence given to Susan Shore is not mitigating since she was clearly not guilty of murder. It is not mitigating that one codefendant, Leo Cisneros, has managed to avoid arrest to date. The life sentence given to Denise Davidson is mitigating since she is quilty of murder. However, in light of the differences vast in the aggravating and mitigating circumstances presented in her case as opposed to Mr. McDonald's, it is entitled to only a modest amount of weight. (R 1668-70)

It is the state's position that the trial court properly imposed the sentence of death in the instant case and that appellant is not entitled to relief on this claim. To support his position appellant relies this Court's decisions in <u>Scott v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 604 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1992) and <u>Fuentes v. Dugger</u>, 549 So. 2d 652 (Fla. 1989). Both cases are readily distinguishable.

First, in <u>Scott v. Dugger</u>, 604 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1192), Scott received relief on the basis of newly discovered evidence because this Court affirmed Scott's death sentence before his co-defendant was sentenced to life in prison. In contrast, McDonald's sentence was imposed only after the court heard argument on the import of Davidson's life sentence. Therefore, Davidson's sentence cannot be considered newly discovered evidence as was the co-defendant's sentence in <u>Scott</u>. See, also, <u>Steinhorst v. Singletary</u>, 638 So. 2d 33, 35 (Fla. 1994).

Next, the co-defendants in <u>Scott</u> were equally culpable participants. The evidence presented at trial shows that the instant case does not involve equally culpable participants. When co-defendants are not equally culpable, the death sentence of the more culpable co-defendant is not unequal justice when another codefendant receives a life sentence. <u>Steinhorst v. Singletary</u>, 638 So. 2d 33, 35 (Fla. 1994), <u>citing</u>, <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 492 So. 2d 360 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 479 U.S. 1022, 107 S.Ct. 680, 93 L.Ed.2d 730 (1986).

Based on this Court's decision in Fuentes v. Dugger, 549 So. 1989), wherein this Court held that a 2d 652 (Fla. life recommendation in a contract killing was reasonable where when Fuentes' accomplice and the victim's wife who hired them were given reduced sentences based on a plea, appellant contends that the "question of relative culpability and disparity in punishment should have been put before the jury for its consideration." (Brief of Appellant, pg. 15) Unlike Fuentes the jury in the instant case did not recommend life. Further, unlike Fuentes, McDonald's co-defendant Gordon also received death. Finally, as noted by Judge Schaeffer, Davidson's jury, unlike McDonald's, was not instructed on the pecuniary gain or the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravators. Davidson, in addition to not being present at the scene of the murder, also presented substantially more evidence in mitigation, including evidence no significant history of prior criminal activity, extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person (Leo Cisneros), age and several nonstatutory mitigators. (R 1669)

Curiously, appellant maintains that "it does not appear that this Court has addressed the problem that arises in factual circumstances like those in the present case (i.e., an accomplice receives a life sentence sometime between a defendant's penalty

phase and final sentencing)." (Brief of Appellant, pg. 12-13) In the defense memorandum in support of a new penalty phase McDonald references this Court's decision in <u>Gamble v. State</u>, 659 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 1995) wherein this Court specifically addressed this argument and rejected same. (R 1636) A review of the case shows that Gamble and an accomplice, Michael Love, robbed and murdered their landlord by striking him several times in the head with a claw hammer and choking him with a cord. The jury found Gamble guilty of conspiracy to commit armed robbery, armed robbery, and murder in the first degree and recommended the death sentence by a ten-to-two vote. After Gamble's penalty phase, Love entered into an agreement with the state for a reduced sentence. In reference to the instant claim, this Court stated:

> . . . Gamble asserts that his jury would have also recommended a life sentence if it had been informed of Love's sentence. Gamble proffers that this factor singlehandedly requires a sentence reduction. We disagree. Love's sentence was based on a guilty plea Gamble's penalty phase entered after Clearly the Gamble trial judge proceedings. was not required to postpone Gamble's sentencing and await Love's plea and sentence. We refuse to speculate as to what may have occurred had the Gamble jury been made aware of the posture of Love's case. We find no error relative to the issue. <u>Gamble v. State</u>, 659 So.2d 242, 245 (Fla. 1995). See, also, Hannon v. State, 638 So.2d 39, 44 (Fla. 1994)

Even absent this Court's decision in <u>Gamble</u>, this Court has repeatedly upheld death sentences where a co-defendant's life sentence was imposed after the imposition of the appellant's death sentence. <u>Bush v. Singletary</u>, 21 Fla. Law Weekly S455 (Fla. October 16, 1996); <u>Steinhorst v. Singletary</u>, 638 So. 2d 33, 35 (Fla. 1994). This Court in <u>Bush</u>, stated:

> In this appeal, Bush points out that Parker and Cave were also sentenced to death for the murder while Johnson received a life sentence. However, Cave's sentence has been aside, and he is scheduled for set resentencing proceedings on November 15, 1996. Bush argues that should Cave receive a life sentence when there is some evidence that Cave admitted that he rather than Parker shot the would victim, Bush's sentence become disproportional. See Scott v. Dugger, 604 So. 2d 465, 469 (Fla. 1992) (``[I]n a death case involving equally culpable defendants, the death sentence of one codefendant is subject to collateral review under rule 3.850 when another codefendant subsequently receives a life sentence.'').

> We reject Bush's contention. At the outset, we know of no legal basis for staying Bush's third death warrant pending а subsequent penalty hearing for a codefendant. More importantly, however, is the fact that Bush played a predominant role in this crime. The four assailants drove in Bush's car, and Bush admitted that they intended to rob the While Bush's stab wound was not fatal, store. he nevertheless inflicted a two-inch wound in the victim's stomach. Bush himself said it was Parker, not Cave, who administered the fatal shot. Moreover, Bush had committed a

prior violent felony at the time of the murder, whereas Cave had not done so. See Cave v. State, 476 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1178, 106 S. Ct. 2907, 90 L. Ed. 2d 993 (1986). Therefore, even if Cave were to receive a life sentence, it could not be said that Bush's death sentence would be disproportional. <u>Bush v. Florida</u>, at S455

Thus, where, as in the instant case, the basis for a death sentence is well supported by the record and considerably more aggravated and less mitigated than the nondeath sentenced codefendant, the sentence is not disproportional and resentencing is Judge Schaeffer found four not warranted. aggravating circumstances; 1) during the commission of a burglary and/or robbery, 2) pecuniary gain (based on payment for contract killing), heinous, atrocious or cruel, and 4) cold, calculated and 3) In mitigation the court found no statutory premeditated. mitigators and gave slight weight to two nonstatutory mitigators, McDonald would be in his seventies before he would be eligible for release and Davidson's life sentence. In contrast Davidson's jury was instructed on only two aggravators and was presented with substantial evidence of statutory and nonstatutory mitigation. (R Accordingly, McDonald's death sentence is 1631-34) not disproportional and the state urges this court to affirm the instant sentence.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the judgment

and sentence should be affirmed.